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From: UN Geneva <UN.Geneva@dfat.gov.au>
Sent: Monday, September 2, 2024 10:58 AM
To: DM GUNN human rights; 
Subject: FW: [EXTERNAL] Letter from the Special Rapporteur on violence against women and 

girls, its causes and consequences [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments: SR VAWG - Letter to the PM Australia.pdf

OFFICIAL 

From: HRC-SR Violence Against Women <hrc-sr-vaw@un.org>  
Sent: Friday, August 30, 2024 5:32 PM 
To: UN Geneva <UN.Geneva@dfat.gov.au> 
Cc: @un.org> 
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Letter from the Special Rapporteur on violence against women and girls, its causes and 
consequences 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside the organisation. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognise the 
sender.

Dear Sir or Madam: 

Please find aƩached a leƩer from the Special Rapporteur on violence against women and girls, its causes and 
consequences, Reem Alsalem. 

Thank you. 

Kind regards, 
SR VAWG Secretariat 

Secretariat of the UN Special Rapporteur on violence 
against women and girls, its causes and consequences 

Special Procedures Branch 
Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights 
E-mail: hrc-sr-vaw@un.org
Web: www.ohchr.org
Twitter: UNHumanRights
Facebook: unitednationshumanrights
Google+: unitednationshumanrights
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Statement on the decision of the Federal Court of Australia in the case of 
Roxanne Tickle v. Giggle for Girls Pty Ltd and Sally Grover 

 
Special Rapporteur on violence against women and girls, Reem Alsalem* 

 
 
I am gravely concerned over the decision of the Federal Court of Australia in the 
case of Roxanne Tickle v. Giggle for Girls Pty Ltd and Sally Grover, which ruled that 
the exclusion of a male who identifies as a woman and is recognized as a female 
under the law from a female-only social media platform constitutes unjustified 
indirect discrimination. 
 
The ruling demonstrates the concrete consequences that result when gender 
identity is allowed to supplant sex - and override women’s rights to female-only 
services and spaces. 
 
The Federal Court of Australia’s ruling concerned the Australian Sex Discrimination 
Act. While the Act differentiates between the concepts of sex and gender identity, 
this distinction is abandoned in practice. The Act also severed the term sex from its 
ordinary meaning of biological sex, operating what I would describe as a built-in and 
fictious premise that every human being has a gender identity. Consequently, the 
Federal Court has argued that the Convention on Discrimination against Women 
(CEDAW), ratified by Australia in 1983, was irrelevant to certain aspects of the case, 
on the pretext that gender identity discrimination was not alleged in favor of a man 
or men. However, it is my view that the Court ignored the fact that the CEDAW 
Convention recognizes that women suffer discrimination on intersecting grounds 
and that there are women that are more vulnerable to discrimination as a result of 
the interplay between sex and other factors that affect their lives. 
 
Furthermore, the Federal Court relied on a general anti-discrimination provision of 
the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), article 26, next to 
Australian legislation to argue the prohibition of discrimination based on gender 
identity. However, as noted by the United Nations Human Rights Committee, “not 
every differentiation of treatment will constitute discrimination, if the criteria for 
such differentiation are reasonable and objective and if the aim is to achieve a 
purpose which is legitimate under the Covenant” (General Comment No. 18 (1989) 
on non-discrimination, para. 13). 
 
I take the opportunity to refer to the position paper I issued at the request of the 
Australian Human Rights Commission in March 2024, in relation to this court case, 
which highlighted that “where tension may arise between the right to non-
discrimination based on sex and non-discrimination based on gender identity, 
international human rights law does not endorse an interpretation that allows either 
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for derogations from the obligation to ensure non-discrimination based on sex or 
the subordination of this obligation not to discrimination based on sex to other 
rights”. 
 
I am also concerned that the court decision could make it potentially harder for 
women and girls to argue for the proportionality, legitimacy and necessity of female-
only spaces in some circumstances. Even if unintentional, the ruling by the Federal 
Court may have made it potentially harder for women and girls in Australia to avail 
themselves of the full breadth of protections provided by the international human 
rights treaties that Australia is part to, including CEDAW and the ICCPR, and which 
require States to ensure equal rights for men and women and not to discriminate on 
the basis of sex.  
 
The Sex Discrimination Act contains provisions that could potentially justify the 
maintenance of single sex services or the reasonableness of distinguishing on the 
basis of biological sex. They were unfortunately not relied on in this case, leaving it 
unclear whether Australian law is fully compatible with international obligations to 
eliminate all forms of discrimination against women and girls. 
 
I hope that if the case moves to the appeal stage, all parties would consider 
applicable international laws and their obligations, as well as the circumstances in 
which exceptions can be applied. 
 
 

4 September 2024 
 
 
*  The Special Rapporteur on violence against women and girls, as a Special 
Procedures mandate of the Human Rights Council, serves in her individual 
capacity independent from any government or organization.  
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From:
Sent: Tuesday, 3 September 2024 5:31 AM
To:
Cc:
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Letter from the Special Rapporteur on violence against women and 

girls, its causes and consequences [SEC=OFFICIAL]

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

OFFICIAL 

OFFICIAL 

Hello

Please let us know if you need anything on this one – though suspect we wouldn’t have input and it 
will be one for domestic agencies.  

Thanks, 

OFFICIAL 

From: 
Sent: Monday, September 2, 2024 7:34 PM 
To: 
Cc:  ;  ; DM Canberra Human Rights Team 
Subject: FW: [EXTERNAL] Letter from the Special Rapporteur on violence against women and girls, its 
causes and consequences [SEC=OFFICIAL] 

OFFICIAL 

OFFICIAL 

Hi 

 please find attached a letter from the Special Rapporteur on violence against 
women and girls, its causes and consequences, Reem Alsalem. The letter includes a news release 
regarding the Australia Federal Court judgment on Roxanne Tickle v Giggle for Girls Pty Ltd & Anor 
dated 23 August 2024. The SR notes the news release will be published on 4 September, 

Best regards 
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________________________________ 
A/g First Secretary, Human Rights  
Australian Permanent Mission to the United Nations in Geneva 
P:  |M: 
dfat.gov.au | Twitter | Facebook | Instagram | LinkedIn 

© Brooke Rigney-Lively (2024) 
We acknowledge the Traditional Custodians of Country throughout Australia, and their continuing 
connection to land, waters and community. We pay our respects to all First Nations peoples, their 
cultures and to their Elders, past, present and emerging. 
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Roxanne Tickle v Giggle for Girls Pty Ltd & Anor, dated 23 August 2024. The SR notes the news release will be 
published on 4 September,  
 
Grateful for any red lines comments,  by 4:00pm today Tuesday 3 
September, so I can advise Geneva Post overnight. 
 
Please reach out if you would like to discuss further. 
 
Many thanks, 
 

 
__________________________________________ 
Policy Officer | Human Rights Autonomous SancƟons SecƟon  
Human Rights Branch | MulƟlateral Policy and Human Rights Division 
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade  
T  
 
 
If you have received this transmission in error please notify us immediately by return e-mail and 
delete all copies. If this e-mail or any attachments have been sent to you in error, that error does not 
constitute waiver of any confidentiality, privilege or copyright in respect of information in the e-mail or 
attachments. 
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From:
Sent: Tuesday, 3 September 2024 4:36 PM
To:
Cc: ;  DM Canberra Human 

Rights Team
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Letter from the Special Rapporteur on violence against women and 

girls, its causes and consequences [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL 

Hi 

Thanks for sending this one through. I shared with AGD and OfW, who advised of no red lines  
 

Many thanks, 

________

Policy Officer | Human Rights Autonomous SancƟons SecƟon  
Human Rights Branch | MulƟlateral Policy and Human Rights Division 
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade  
T 

From:   
Sent: Tuesday, September 3, 2024 4:34 AM 
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From: UN Geneva
Sent: Tuesday, September 3, 2024 5:24 PM
To: DM GUNN human rights; 
Subject: FW: [EXTERNAL] Letter, news release and Statement from the SR VAWG [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments: 2024.09.03 Australia.pdf; SR VAWG - Statement on Australia.pdf

OFFICIAL 

OFFICIAL 

OFFICIAL 

From: 
Sent: Tuesday, September 3, 2024 4:44 PM 
To: @fax.unog.ch; UN Geneva  
Cc: 
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Letter, news release and Statement from the SR VAWG 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside the organisation. Do not click links or open attachments unless 
you recognise the sender. 

Dear Madam, dear Sir, 

Please find attached a letter from the Special Rapporteur on violence against women and girls, its causes and 
consequences. 
Enclosed with the letter are a news release and a statement by the Special Rapporteur, which will be released 
tomorrow. 

Best regards, 

Equality, Non-Discrimination and Participation Unit 
Special Procedures Branch 
Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights 
E-mail: @un.org
Tel: 
Fax:
Web: www.ohchr.org
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From:
Sent: Tuesday, September 3, 2024 10:44 PM
To: Emily Roper
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Letter, news release and Statement from the SR VAWG [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL 

Yes passed back, also an earlier version sent through yesterday 

From: Emily Roper  
Sent: Tuesday, September 3, 2024 7:16 PM 
To:  ; Amanda Gorely  
Cc: 
Subject: Re: [EXTERNAL] Letter, news release and Statement from the SR VAWG[SEC=OFFICIAL] 

OFFICIAL 

Thanks,  Presume we have sent on to CBR so they are prepared if picked up by local news at home? 

ER 

From: @dfat.gov.au> 
Date: Tuesday 3 September 2024 at 5:40:13 PM 
To: "Amanda Gorely" <Amanda.Gorely@dfat.gov.au>, "Emily Roper" <Emily.Roper3@dfat.gov.au> 
Cc: @dfat.gov.au>, @dfat.gov.au> 
Subject: FW: [EXTERNAL] Letter, news release and Statement from the SR VAWG [SEC=OFFICIAL] 

OFFICIAL 

OFFICIAL 

Hi Amanda and Emily 

For your visibility this news release will be published tomorrow. We have passed back to Canberra. 

Thanks 

OFFICIAL 
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OFFICIAL 

From: @un.org>  
Sent: Tuesday, September 3, 2024 4:44 PM 
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such differentiation are reasonable and objective and if the aim is to achieve a purpose which is
legitimate under the Covenant”.

The Special Rapporteur referred to the position paper she issued in relation to this court case, which
highlighted that “where tension may arise between the right to non-discrimination based on sex and
non-discrimination based on gender identity, international human rights law does not endorse an
interpretation that allows either for derogations from the obligation to ensure non-discrimination based
on sex or the subordination of this obligation not to discriminate based on sex to other rights”.

The Special Rapporteur expressed concern that the court decision could make it potentially harder for
women and girls to argue for the proportionality, legitimacy and necessity of female-only spaces in
some circumstances.

ENDS

Reem Alsalem, Special Rapporteur on violence against women and girls, its causes and consequences.

The Special Rapporteurs are part of what is known as the Special Procedures of the Human Rights
Council. Special Procedures, the largest body of independent experts in the UN Human Rights system,
address either specific country situations or thematic issues in all parts of the world. Special Procedures’
experts work on a voluntary basis; they are not UN staff and do not receive a salary for their work. They
are independent from any government or organization and

For additional information and media requests, please contact hrc-sr-vaw@un.org.

For media enquiries regarding other UN independent experts, please Dharisha Indraguptha
(dharisha.indraguptha@un.org) or John Newland (john.newland@un.org)

Follow news related to the UN's independent human rights experts on Twitter: @UN_SPExperts
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From:
Sent: Wednesday, 4 September 2024 11:03 AM
To:
Cc:
Subject: FW: [EXTERNAL] Letter, news release and Statement from the SR VAWG 

[SEC=OFFICIAL]

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

OFFICIAL 

OFFICIAL 

Hi  

A quick follow up but I spoke to  at AGD about this and they were wondering if a response was required. I said 
no as it was a courtesy letter and we weren’t prompted for reply. But if they wanted to respond to let us know and 
we could consider further.  

Cheers 

OFFICIAL 

From:   
Sent: Wednesday, September 4, 2024 1:38 AM 
To:   
Cc:  ;   
Subject: FW: [EXTERNAL] Letter, news release and Statement from the SR VAWG [SEC=OFFICIAL] 

OFFICIAL 

OFFICIAL 

Hi

Thanks for your advice that there is no additional changes. Please see attached statement, which will be released 
tomorrow.  

Best 

OFFICIAL 
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OFFICIAL 

From: @un.org>  
Sent: Tuesday, September 3, 2024 4:44 PM 

LEX 12146 - Document 10

s 22(1)(a)(ii) - This section and pages (55-60) are a duplicate to pages (33-39) and the following pages have been removed

s 47F(1)

54 of 124

DFAT - RELEASED UNDER THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 1982



1

From:
Sent: Wednesday, September 4, 2024 2:21 PM
To: Emily Roper
Cc:
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Letter, news release and Statement from the SR VAWG [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments: draft cable - SR VAWG Statement on Australia (DHOM review).docx; SR VAWG - 

Statement on Australia.pdf

OFFICIAL 

Dear Emily 

Please see attached draft cable for your review and clearance, HOM would not usually clear these cables but noting her 
interest below please let me know if you think she should also clear.  

Thanks 

From: Amanda Gorely  
Sent: Wednesday, September 4, 2024 9:09 AM 
To: Emily Roper ;   
Cc:   
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Letter, news release and Statement from the SR VAWG [SEC=OFFICIAL] 

OFFICIAL 

Thanks  I think this should be attached to a summary cable setting out the key points made by the SR. As Emily 
says, it will likely attract media attention and there will be broad interest. 

AG 

Amanda Gorely 
Ambassador and Permanent Representative 
Australian Permanent Mission to the United Nations 
Australian Ambassador for Disarmament 
Direct: 
Mobile
Twitter @AustraliaUN_GVA 
(she/her) 
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From: Emily Roper <Emily.Roper3@dfat.gov.au>  
Sent: Tuesday, September 3, 2024 7:16 PM 
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OFFICIAL 
 

   
 

OFFICIAL 
  Page 1 of 1 

 
Title: UN: Special Rapporteur on violence against women and girls - Statement 

on  the case of Roxanne Tickle v. Giggle for Girls Pty Ltd and Sally 
Grover 

MRN:     
To:  

 

Cc: 
 

From: Geneva UN 
From File: 

 

EDRMS 
Files: 

 

References:
 

Response:  Routine, Information Only 
  
Summary 
  
As per email ( ), the UN Special Rapporteur on violence against women 
and girls, Reem Alsalem, published the attached statement expressing concern over the 
decision of the Federal Court of Australia in the case of Roxanne Tickle v. Giggle for Girls 
Pty Ltd and Sally Grover on 4 September. The Special Rapporteur said the ruling 
demonstrates the consequences when gender identity, which she describes as "a built-in and 
fictitious premise", is allowed to supplant sex and override women’s rights to female-only 
services and spaces. Media coverage is likely. 

 
  
 
  
text ends 

 
Sent by: 

 

Prepared 
by:  

 

Approved 
by: 

DHOM 

Topics:  
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From:
Sent: Thursday, 5 September 2024 2:15 AM
To:
Cc: DM Canberra Human Rights Team; DM GUNN human rights; Bronte Moules;  

Subject: FYI NEWS RELEASE -- Special Rapporteur decries Australia’s Federal Court ruling 
further eroding rights to female-only spaces [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL 

Hello 

As expected, please see below the the SR VAW’s media release on the Tickle v Giggle case (released around 1030am, 
Geneva time on 4 Sept).   

Since you kindly engaged with OfW and AGD on this one – would you be able to send this onto them? I saw your 
original email to them (with thanks), but I didn’t see any replies come through from them, and I would like to ensure 
this goes to the right people. Grateful if you could cc us in for filing.  

Thanks  much appreciated and have a lovely day. 

Many thanks,  

Special Rapporteur decries Australia’s Federal Court ruling further eroding 
rights to female-only spaces 

GENEVA (4 September 2024) – In a statement today, the Special Rapporteur on violence against 
women and girls, Reem Alsalem, expressed grave concern over a decision by the Federal Court 
of Australia in the case of Roxanne Tickle v. Giggle for Girls Pty Ltd and Sally Grover, that the 
exclusion of a male who identifies as a woman and is recognised as female under the law from a 
female-only social media platform constitutes unjustified indirect discrimination. 

“The ruling demonstrates the concrete consequences that result when gender identity is allowed 
to supplant sex and override women’s rights to female-only services and spaces,” said Alsalem. 

She noted that the ruling concerned the Australian Sex Discrimination Act, and that while the Act 
differentiates between the concepts of sex and gender identity, this distinction is abandoned in 
practice. She said the Act severed the term sex from its ordinary meaning of biological sex, 
operating on what she described as a built-in and fictitious premise that every human being has a 
gender identity. Consequently, she said that the Federal Court had argued that the Convention on 
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Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), ratified by Australia in 1983, was irrelevant to certain 
aspects of this case, on the pretext that gender identity discrimination was not alleged in favor of a 
man or men. However, in her view, the Court ignored the fact that the CEDAW Convention 
recognises that there are women who are more vulnerable to discrimination as a result of the 
interplay between sex and other factors that affect their lives. 

Alsalem said that the Federal Court relied on a general anti-discrimination provision of the 
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), article 26, next to Australian 
legislation to argue the prohibition of discrimination based on gender identity. However, as noted 
by the UN Human Rights Committee, “not every differentiation of treatment will constitute 
discrimination, if the criteria for such differentiation are reasonable and objective and if the aim is 
to achieve a purpose which is legitimate under the Covenant”. 

The Special Rapporteur referred to the position paper she issued in relation to this court case, 
which highlighted that “where tension may arise between the right to non-discrimination based on 
sex and non-discrimination based on gender identity, international human rights law does not 
endorse an interpretation that allows either for derogations from the obligation to ensure non-
discrimination based on sex or the subordination of this obligation not to discriminate based on 
sex to other rights”. 

The Special Rapporteur expressed concern that the court decision could make it potentially harder 
for women and girls to argue for the proportionality, legitimacy and necessity of female-only 
spaces in some circumstances. 

ENDS  

Reem Alsalem, Special Rapporteur on violence against women and girls, its causes and 
consequences. 

The Special Rapporteurs are part of what is known as the Special Procedures of the Human 
Rights Council. Special Procedures, the largest body of independent experts in the UN Human 
Rights system, address either specific country situations or thematic issues in all parts of the 
world. Special Procedures’ experts work on a voluntary basis; they are not UN staff and do not 
receive a salary for their work. They are independent from any government or organization and  

For additional information and media requests, please contact hrc-sr-vaw@un.org. 

For media enquiries regarding other UN independent experts, please Dharisha Indraguptha 
(dharisha.indraguptha@un.org) or John Newland (john.newland@un.org) 

Follow news related to the UN's independent human rights experts on Twitter: @UN SPExperts 
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From:
Sent: Wednesday, 11 September 2024 9:29 AM
To: OFW International; Human Rights (AGD)
Cc:  DM Canberra Human Rights Team
Subject: FW: [EXTERNAL] NEWS RELEASE -- Special Rapporteur decries Australia’s Federal 

Court ruling further eroding rights to female-only spaces [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL 

Hi OfW and AGD colleagues, 

FYI in case you haven’t seen it (and apologies for the delayed email), but as expected please see below the SR 
VAWG’s media release on the Tickle v Giggle case (released around 10:30am, Geneva time on 4 September).   

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

From: OHCHR-UN Special Procedures - Human Rights <ohchr-media-specialprocedures@un.org>  
Sent: Wednesday, September 4, 2024 6:33 PM 
Subject: [EXTERNAL] NEWS RELEASE -- Special Rapporteur decries Australia’s Federal Court ruling further eroding 
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
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